BERWICK-upon-TWEED

(Town formerly a Borough and County now in the County of Northumberland)

HISTORY

Berwick is mentioned in early chronicles from the ninth century and was already the principal port for southern Scotland by 1119 when Prince David refers to it as a Royal Burgh and appointed a Sheriff  (Vicecomes de Berwic).   On his accession to the throne of Scotland in 1124 as King David I, he granted charters to four Royal Burghs in southern Scotland, one of which was Berwick.   In return for taxes or tribute collected by the towns- people and assistance with the defence of the town, they were granted the exclusive right of trade within the town, except on market days or fairs.   Berwick was the wealthiest town in Scotland throughout the twelfth and thirteenth centuries, with its Customs duties contributing up to one third of the total Royal income.   As the closest point to Europe, much of Scottish imports and exports passed through the port.   Merchants and tradesmen from as far afield as Flanders and southern England settled in the Burgh.

The original Burgesses of Berwick were those who possessed a burgage plot of land within the Burgh.   The holding of such plots also entailed responsibilities in the governing of the town.   Trades men, who were Freemen, were formed into Trade Guilds which protected the standards of trade within the town.   The earliest recorded Trade Guilds were the Baxters (bakers), Fleshers (butchers) and Salmon Fishers.   It was possible to become a Freeman after a year and a day spent within the town.   It was not necessary to possess a burgage plot in order to become a Freeman.   The Commune or Community represented the inhabitants of the town and included all Freemen and Burgesses.   The Provost (sometimes Burgh Reeve or Alderman) was appointed by the King.   He was the King’s representative and was responsible for collecting Customs and other Royal dues along with the Bailies.   At this time Royal Burghs were on the King’s land and were subject to the jurisdiction of the King’s Officers.

The four original Royal Burghs in southern Scotland met as the Curia Quattuor Burgorum (Court of the Four Burghs).   This was summoned each year by the Chamberlain of Scotland who presided over the Court.   Commissioners were provided by the original four Royal Burghs to sit with the Chamberlain and develop common practices and resolve disputes.   Appeals could be made against decisions by the Provost or ballies to the Court.   

Other Royal burghs were created and became subject to decisions of this Court.   Royal Burghs from the north of Scotland met as The Hanse of Northern Burghs.   The Leges Quattuor Burgorum (Laws of the Four Burghs) were ratified by this Court.   The first law (Statutae Gildae) related to internal regulations within the Burgh and the second to the relationship between those living in the countryside and those living in the Burgh.  Berwick operated under these laws until 1249.

By the middle of the thirteenth century Berwick had grown in both size and influence.   The Merchants’ Guild was by far the most influential of all the Guilds and included many families which had been attracted to Berwick by its wealth.   The original burgages had been split to cope with the expanding population.   The Trade Guilds included many native population.   In about 1235 a Royal Charter extended the rights of Burgesses to include the election of a Mayor who was not a King’s Officer, but represented the Guild.   After an extended period of negotiation the Laws of Berwick Guild were formally approved in 1249.   This brought all Burgesses and Freemen into one Merchant Guild; although it did make the dominant position of the merchants very clear.   To quote from the laws “ No butcher while he handles the axe can be a merchant or meddle with the staple trade of the town”.   After this, the terms Burgesses and Freemen become interchangeable.  Stallingers were retailers who had market stalls but did not pay the burgess taxes or have the duties and privileges of a Burgess.   It is probable that at this time they were Freemen.   Further regulations were added to these Laws between 1281 and 1294.

At the beginning of the Scottish Wars of Independence in 1296, Edward 1 of England sacked Berwick and killed most of the population as a political act to persuade the Scots to accept his rule.   Although the Scots eventually won the Wars of Independence,  except for short periods of time, Berwick was to remain in English control.   Edward gave the first English Charter in 1302 confirming the Charters of Alexander 111.   By this and other English king’s Charters Berwick was governed as a garrisoned Scots town in English hands until 1604.   The Merchant Guild had control of trade, but the government of the town was by a Council under a Governor appointed by the English king.

In 1604, after James V1 of Scotland had acceded to the English throne as James1, the military Governor was withdrawn and an extended Charter given to the Guild. This included the grant of ownership of the major part of the Royal Manor.   This transfer of land right confirmed earlier rights of grazing and collection of wood and grass.   The Guild resumed the government of the town.   Berwick was not treated as part of England in Acts of Parliament until 1746.   Until this time Berwick had been named separately in all official documents.   The Guild continued to govern the town until the Reform Acts of 1835.

The government of the town was taken over by an elected Council after 1835.   The Guild continued to represent Freemen.   There was an annual Head Guild; and a Committee was elected to represent Freemen’s interests.   The number of Freemen declined.   In the period after the First World War, local government expanded.    Berwick Borough Council attempted to finance this expansion of interests using the income from the freemen’s Estate.   After protracted negotiations an Act was passed in 1926 which created a Trust to run the Estate.   The Act also authorised that a Freemen’s Committee be elected annually. It is under this act that the Freemen’s Guild now operates.

LIBERTIES OF BERWICK

In 1331 Edward11 appointed justiciaries to conserve the peace and “To declare and perambulate the ancient Bounds between the kingdoms of England and Scotland”.   The original Bounds  of Berwick were given in the Charter of Robert Bruce, but the present Bounds were defined in the truce of 1438.   It is probable that Bounds were patrolled by the garrison from that date.   In 1542 it was stated that the Bounds were to be perambulated so often as to keep them well known.

After the 1604 Charter, the Burgesses set up stones and dug ditches to mark the bounds of their property.   In 1609 they rode the Bounds for the first time.   At first this was twice a year, which later fell to once per year, on the 1st May or if a Sunday 2nd May.   The Mayor was allowed to spend £20 on a feast at Michaelmas.   In 1661 and 1667 this fell upon a Sunday and the Guild authorised that the money be spent upon a dinner following the Riding of the Bounds.   The event became a festival, with The town bells rung and cannons fired.   The Mayor provided ribbons for the horses and the town waits (musicians) welcomed the Mayor and other dignitaries back on their return from Scotsgate.   Traditionally horse races followed the ceremony.   This was believed to commemorate the crossing of the border by Margaret Tudor to marry James1V in 1503, when it was stated that on crossing the border “ leaping, wrestling and cudgel racing took place”.   Except for the period from 1726 to 1729, when it was cancelled due to lack of funds, the ceremony has continued.   The official ceremony since 1835 has been the responsibility of the Borough Council and, while horses still ride, the ceremony is muted in modern times.   The Freemen now ride the Bounds in a bus; and this is followed by a lunch.

There are three road crossing points on the border with Scotland.   At each of these there were tolls where fees were collected.    Due to the difference in law between England and Scotland, they were also famous for marriage ceremonies.   Lamberton Toll was at one time more popular than Gretna Green and as late as 1844 there were 150 marriages in the year.   They were also depots for smugglers with whisky being the most favoured article.

FREEDOM ENTITLEMENT

From the earliest times, Burgesses and Freemen, assembled in their Head Guild, have decided the rules of admission to the Guild and to the Freedom.   This right was recognised in the Municipal Corporations Act of 1835 and in all subsequent Acts, with the exception that admission by purchase or gift was abolished.   The qualifications resolved upon from time to time are recorded in the Guild books.

The Guild recognised that those who had served their apprenticeship were skilled and worthy to take up the Freedom.   It was natural for fathers to pass on skills, tools and customers to their sons, who learned their trade from their fathers or other members of their families.   Admission through purchase or gift was used to incorporate new traders into the Guild.   The right to the Freedom was cherished in families, but the rules of servitude were restrictive.   In 1513 the Guild agreed the right of the eldest son to take up his Freedom by birth at the age of twenty-one, provided that he was born after his father’s own admission.

With a high death rate in crowded Boroughs, the right to the Freedom by birth was often lost in a family.   In the seventeenth century the right to the Freedom by patrimony was altered several times in order to allow for this death rate.   It was extended to second sons of Freemen, after the death of the first son without issue(1647); to first sons born after their father’s own admission (1670); and to second sons where the first son had not been made Free (1682).

In 1652 it was agreed that sons born before their father’s admission, or younger sons whose elder brothers had been admitted, could not be made free by right of patrimony; but could be apprenticed to their father, or to their widowed mother if she carried on her husband’s business.   It had become accepted practice that widows continued with full rights of the freedom following the death of their husband.   The use of this form of entry was extended to apprenticeships; to their grandfather if he was a Freeman(1741); or their uncle if he was a freeman (1748).   These were often nominal apprenticeships, were the actual training was not carried out.   Eventually these nominal apprenticeships were replaced in 1783 to allow sons to take up the right of the Freedom where they were born after their father’s admission; and in 1923, in the case of sons born before their father’s admission.   The rules of admission were revised and updated by the Guild following the 1926 Act.   In 1927 the Guild agreed to accept those sons made legitimate by virtue of the Legitimacy Act of 1926.   In 1995 the Guild extended the right to take up the Freedom to grandsons in the male line.

The original rights of entry to the Freedom still apply by apprenticeship or nominal apprenticeship.   The guild reserves the right to revise the rules for apprenticeship from time to time.   These were revised in 1908 and again in 1992.   An apprenticeship must be accepted by the Guild and registered with the Mayor.   A candidate must have completed his apprenticeship and reached the age of twenty-one in order to take up his right to the freedom.

It should be noted that the widows of Freemen take the full rights of their husbands in the Freedom.   This includes the right to vote at General Meetings and to be elected to any position within the Guild.   When reference is made to Freemen or Resident Freemen these terms include widows in their own right.

ADMISSION TO FREEDOM

The rules of admission are revised from time to time by the Guild.   As the actual conferring of the Freedom is carried out by the Mayor, any revision of the rules have to be accepted by the Mayor and Chief Executive of the Borough.   The rules were revised in 1996 following the Guild resolution to accept grandsons in the male line.

Persons entitled to be admitted to the Freedom must make a formal claim to the Mayor.   In practice there is a standard form which must be completed.   It is signed by the Chief Executive who informs the Mayor.   The notice of claim must be published outside the side door of the Town Hall for at least forty-eight hours.   Admissions are normally made on the four quarter days .   However special arrangements can be made at other times as long as there is valid reason and the Mayor is available.   There is a payment, made up of £1 to the Grammar School, 80p to the funds of the Corporation ( originally to cover the cost of two leather fire buckets), 33p to the Chief Executive, 6p to the Sergeant at Mace and the cost of a copy of the Freemen’s roll and a tube for the certificate.

Admissions take place in the Council Chamber of the Town Hall.   The applicant and his sponsor must be present.   Special arrangements were made during the First World War for admission ceremonies to take place without the presence of the applicant.   The ceremony was carried out by proxy in order to allow military personnel to take up their right to the Freedom on reaching the age of 21.

The Mayor enters the Chamber preceded by the Sergeant at Mace who carries the mace presented to the Borough by the Guild in 1951.   The Mayor is normally accompanied by the Sheriff and Chief Executive.   The Chief Executive confirms that the claim has been verified and the sponsor confirms the identity of the claimant.   The claimant takes the Freemen’s Oath, which may have been in use for over four hundred years.   The Mayor instructs the Chief Executive to enter the claimant’s name in the Freemen’s Roll and the Mayor, Chief Executive and new youngest Freeman sign the certificate.   The Mayor and Sheriff address the meeting and the Chairman of the Guild welcomes the new Freeman, clothing him with the robes of a Berwick Freeman.

RESIDENTS’ ROLLS

The Roll of Resident Freemen is compiled annually after Michaelmas Day ( 29th September)  by the Clerk to the Trustees.   It is submitted to a special meeting of the Trustees for approval.   This meeting must be advertised in the local press and is open for all Freemen to attend so that objections can be made.

To be included on the Residents’ Roll. a Freeman must have resided within the Liberties of Berwick, i.e. north of the River Tweed and within the Bounds, from the previous Lady Day ( 25th March) to Michaelmas Day.   Incomers must attend personally at the office of the Clerk of theTrustees on or before Lady Day, in order to have their name recorded in the Incomers Book.   By ancient custom Freemen admitted at the Changing Day, held immediately after Michaelmas Day, are entered on the residents’ Roll for the following year, whether or not they are resident within the Liberties.

The names of Freemen are entered in the Residents ‘ Roll in order of seniority, determined by the date of admission to the Freedom.   Widows inherit the Freedom in their own right on the death of their husband.   In the case of a first wife, she assumes the seniority of her husband’s date of admission.   In the case of a second wife, younger than her husband, she is assumed to have been admitted to the Freedom at the same age as her husband was when he was admitted.   Where a Freeman marries for a third time after the age of 60. his widow is placed on the roll next after the then youngest Resident Freeman.

In 1996 there were 76 Resident Freemen.   It is not possible to ascertain accurate numbers of non-Resident Freemen who are alive.   It is believed that the total number of Freemen is about 500.

THE FREEMEN’S ESTATE

Various Charters from the time of Alexander 11 of Scotland had confirmed the rights of Berwick Freemen in the commons and pastures of the town.   This was Fue Ferme in which they had hereditary rights of usage, although under the feudal system the ownership of the land was vested in the monarch.

After the military Governor was withdrawn from Berwick, the Guild petitioned for a new Charter.   This was granted in 1604, returning the government of the town to the Guild.   The Guild had also petitioned for the land right of the Royal Manor to go with their right of usage.   This was granted for about two thirds of the Borough lands. the remaining one third being granted to Sir George Home ( later Lord Dunbar).   It was not until 1720 that the old garrison and stallingers finally ceased to hold meadows and exercise rights of common.   In 1657 the Guild purchased the Manor of Tweedmouth and Spittal for £570.

By the beginning of the nineteenth century the majority of the land had been enclosed and some was let as farms.   It was divided into three portions.   The first portion, known as the Treasurers Farms”, consisted of a number of farms which had been enclosed in 1685 and were let.   The income was used to pay the salaries of the Officers and other corporate expenses.   The second portion was divided into meadows, which were distributed at an annual meeting between Freemen on the basis of seniority.   The third portion were open fields up to 1761, upon which each Burgess was entitled to certain rights of pasture.   In time they were enclosed and let as farms.   The rent from each farm was divided by 11 or 22; and at the annual Stint Meeting a portion was allocated to each Burgess or Burgess’ widow.   From 1754 it was a requirement that any Freemen obtaining a share of the Meadows and Stints had to reside in the town for at least six months and pay Scot and Lot.

The municipal Corporations Act of 1835 placed all property in the hands of the new elected Council while maintaining the rights of Freemen to the benefits from the portions which had never been used for the general expenses of the town.   There was some controversy over the interpretation of this Act to Berwick, and legal opinion was sought.   As a result in 1843 the Berwick-upon-Tweed Corporation ( Freemen) Act was passed to settle and establish the rights of Resident Freemen in the property vested in the Borough. 

This Act defined the land in four Schedules.   The first schedule was the Meadows held for their benefit by Resident Freemen on a basis of seniority.   The second schedule was land leased out, the rent for which was split up as “Stints in lieu of Meadows” for resident Freemen for whom there were no Meadows available.   The third schedule or “Outfields” was leased out and the rents were first used to cover any payments due from the Treasurer’s Farms which could not be covered in any year from the income from the Fourth Schedule.    The residue from the third Schedule was split up between those Freemen participating in the first and second Schedules.   The first, second and third Schedules were those lands known before the Act as the Meadows and Stints; i.e. the first and second portions of the Estate to which the Freemen had undoubted title.   The fourth Schedule comprised the Treasurer’s Farms as before the Act.   The 1843 Act confirmed that although Tweedmouth and Spittal , south of the River Tweed, had been incorporated into Berwick, the residence requirement for Freemen was in the original Borough north of the River Tweed.

The 1843 Act gave no powers for the sale of land in Schedules 1 and 11: nor did it allow for leasing of the Meadows, except by or on behalf of Freemen of their allocated Meadows.   This effectively prevented development of Berwick to the north.   The Freemen were not satisfied with the way the Estate was being administered by the Council and wanted a say in the administration.   After protracted negotiations a new Act was passed in 1926 which vested the Estate in the Berwick-upon Tweed Corporation (Freemen) Trustees.   The Trustees are five Freemen elected by the Freemen and five non-Freemen appointed by the Council.

The incomes from Schedule 1 and 11 lands are distributed to Resident Freemen, according to seniority, free of all charges.   The income from Schedule 1V covered: all lawful expenses for all Schedules of the Estate, payments to certain Charities ( including the Corporation Academy), the interests on all debts, Borough or District rates, all income tax, the salaries of certain municipal officers as paid before 1835, the cost of the prison and certain other payments.   Any surplus was paid to the Borough in accordance with the 1843 Act.   The third Schedule was used to cover any deficit on Schedule 1V with the surplus paid to the Freemen’s Committee, who were empowered to retain or use these funds.

There was some ambiguity on payments due from Schedule 1V, with the Borough and Freemen having different interpretations.   These were eventually resolved by arbitration in 1933, which settled a number of other matters.   Rents payable for lease of market rights, reservoir and water rights were included in Schedule 1V.    It was confirmed that the expenses from all four Schedules, the expenses of the Trustees and the Freemen’s Committee were all charges on Schedule 1V.   Included in lawful expenses were payment of £65 for the use of the Municipal offices and the free use of the Town Hall by both Freemen and Council.    When the income from Schedule 1V was not sufficient to cover these payments, the additional amount was to be paid from Schedule 111.   Any surplus  from Schedule 111 was to be distributed to the Freemen’s Committee and the Borough, on a stated distribution.   The inclusion of the Borough in the distribution of Schedule 111 money was to compensate for the removal of those payments due to the Borough under the 1843 and 1926 Acts.

By the time of the passing of the Municipal Corporations Act of 1835 the Estate had incurred considerable debts, which were later substantially increased by the costs of the 1926 Act and the 1933 Arbitration.   This debt was eventually cleared by the 1970s out of proceeds of sale of Schedule 1V lands.

Municipal expenditure had exceeded income, even though in 1827 the Freemen had agreed to pay a special rate of 10% of their meadow and stint moneys, at a time when non-Freemen were paying no general rate.   This special rate was replaced by the provisions of the 1843 Act.

Inevitably, after 1835, the sharing of income between the Corporation and the Freemen gave rise to problems.   For example, when the Borough was enlarged in 1835 differences arose as to whether the additional expense incurred should be charged against the Freemen’s estate.   The Corporation also appropriated all Schedule 11 income, although the nominal expenses of administrating the Borough were more than covered.   The 1843 Act provided a partial solution, but the increasing responsibilities cast upon the Council by Parliament, particularly after the 1914-18 war, made the previous arrangements unworkable

Furthermore, in the nineteenth century and the early part of the twentieth century, there was continual political opposition to Freemen’s rights and envious eyes were cast on their property.   As elsewhere, the Corporation from time to time contemplated promotion of a Private Act under which the Freemen’s Estate would have been expropriated and the Freemen then alive (but not their successors) compensated by an annuity.

The Local Government Act of 1972 saw the dissolution of the old Borough and its replacement by a new District Council, which absorbed Berwick Borough and the adjacent Rural District Councils: the new Council was granted Borough status in 1974 by Royal Charter.

Old habits die hard; and the new Borough Council claimed that it was entitled to a greater share of the Freemen’s Estate.   In addition to attempting to buy out the Freemen’s interest in the Schedule 111 lands, excessive financial demands were made for administrating the Estate and curtailment of the Freemen’s Committee expenses.   Legal fees in protecting their rights in the Estate had always been a legitimate expense by the Freemen’s Committee chargeable to the Estate.   After proposals to promote a Private Act of Parliament were dropped following the failure of a similar Bill promoted by York Council, and after the threat of recourse to the Courts by the Freemen’s Committee, wiser counsels prevailed and matters were resolved by negotiation.   A realistic basis for determining the expense incurred by the Council for administration of the Estate was agreed.   The Freemen’s rights to reclaim from the Estate any expenditure in protecting the Freemen’s rights was accepted.

It is hoped that this accord will result in greater co-operation between the Council and the Guild, to the greater advantage to both the Town and the Resident Freemen.   The Freemen will continue to protect the Estate.   Had they failed in their duty at any of the various threats in the past, the Estate would have been lost and Berwick would have been poorer for the loss.   The Town Hall is funded from the Estate and is provided without cost for the use of the borough and the Freemen.   There is substantial income to the Borough from the Estate.   There must be no doubt as to whether the Estate would have survived to provide these advantages without the dedicated work of the Freemen through the ages.

MEADOW MONEY

The income from Schedule 1 (Meadows) and Schedule 11 ( Stints in Lieu of Meadows) is distributed to the Resident Freemen in equal shares according to seniority in a manor proportional to the value attributed to the actual Meadow or Meadows which each would have possessed before the 1926 Act,

Meadow money is distributed by the Trustees by hand to each recipient by the Trustees’ Messenger; thus ensuring it is received by the correct person and that he or she is still alive and resident in the Borough.   The Trustees’ Messenger is a Freeman who also acts as the Freemen’s Messenger, distributing newsletters to Resident Freemen and daughters of Freemen.

An additional allowance is paid to the senior Resident male Freeman, commonly known as the Oldest Freeman, who also holds a gold headed walking stick for the duration of his seniority.

GUILD MEETINGS

Guild meetings have been held since tradesmen first gathered for their mutual benefit.  Formal meetings of the Guild were called Head Guilds and, according to the ancient rules of the Guild, were held quarterly.   These rules which were ratified in 1920, were replaced by the organisation set in place by the 1926 Act

The Act requires an Annual General Meeting of the Guild to be held, at which only the Resident Freemen president elect five Trustees and nine Committee Members.   Those elected do not require to be Resident Freemen.   The meeting also elects Freemen Committee Members to the Corporation Academy Foundation (elected by all Freemen present).   In addition to those matters required by the 1926 Act, the Annual General Meeting receives a report of the past year from the Guild, from the Trustees of Berwick Corporation (Freemen) Estate and a financial statement.   It also deals with any other matters which are in the interests of Freemen.

The Committee elected must carry out the duties given in the 1926 Act, viz. the administration of the statutory income of the resident Freemen.   In practice this Committee carries out all the administration of the Guild.   It receives audited accounts of the various Funds and appoints a Chairman, Vice-Chairman, Secretary and Treasurer, who carry out these duties acting on behalf of the Freemen’s Guild.   The Guild Committee or Guild Members may call a General meeting of the Guild at any other time of the year to discuss and decide any matter considered of vital importance to the Guild.

GUILD CHARITIES

The Freemen’s Committee administer certain charities on behalf of the Guild.   There are also a number of other charities in which the Freemen are interested.   These charities are as follows:

The 1926 Fund.   This Fund was set up under the 1926 Act and is administered by the Freemen’s Committee.   Income from part of the proceeds from the sale of land or property of the Freemen’s Estate.   The use of the fund is laid down in the 1926 Act and is for Resident Freemen and widows of resident Freemen.   The interest from the fund is disbursed each year to all Resident Freemen who have retired or are over the age of 65, are disabled and unable to work, or have been unable to obtain employment throughout the year.

The Jane Turner Fleming Fund.   This Fund came from the residual estate of Jane Turner Fleming, the daughter of an eminent Freeman, Joseph Fleming, who was also Mayor of the Borough.   It is administered by the Freemen’s Committee.   The interest from the fund is disbursed each year at a special meeting of the Committee to spinster or widowed daughters of Freemen ,resident within the Liberties of Berwick, who have a limited income.         

The Reserve Fund.   The income from this Fund is from the surplus income from the Estate, the distribution of which was agreed by arbitration in 1933-34.   It is administered by the Freemen’s Committee.   This Fund is to be used for the protection and promotion of the general interests of the Freemen, or for any charitable purposes for the benefit or relief of Freemen.   These restrict the use of the Fund to items within the Liberties of Berwick for resident Freemen or matters which would be in their interests.

For many years there was little or no surplus income from the Estate due to debts which had accumulated and the requirement to modernise the Town Hall and farm properties.   By the 1980s the Estate began to have surpluses.   The money placed in the Reserve Fund was held, as there was dispute with the Borough over the future of the Estate and the Freemen retained funds to be able to finance any necessary action.   This position was resolved in 1996.   The Committee has now to consider the future use of this Fund.   This will include a number of possibilities such as housing for Resident Freemen.

The Corporation Academy Foundation.   From the seventeenth century the Guild had provided free education for the sons and daughters of Freemen at various establishments throughout the town.   In 1800 these classes were amalgamated together in the Corporation Academy or Freemen’s School.   In 1920 the school was closed and education taken over by the State education system.

This Foundation was set up by the Board of Education in 1922.   The income is frozen at the level of financial support given by the Freemen’s Estate to the academy in 1920.   It is administered by four Trustees each from the Freemen and Borough Council.   Education grants are given to the children of Freemen who apply.   this charity is not restricted to Resident Freemen as the Academy was open to the children of all Freemen whether Resident or non-Resident.

William Weatherburn Charity.   This charity was established in 1870 from the estate of a Freeman of that name.   It is administered by the Vicar of Berwick, Mayor, Sheriff and Borough Treasurer for  Resident Freemen’s widows.

The Berwick-upon-Tweed Corporation (Freemen) Trustees.   There are a number of other payments to charities which are made through the trustees of the estate.

The General Fund.   This fund is not a charity; it is the general fund of the Freemen which is administered by the Freemen’s Committee.

Those funds under control of the Freemen’s Committee are invested through financial advisors.   The basis of investment is that 50% of each fund is invested in gilt edged investment and 50% in stocks and shares.   There have been substantial increases in the capital and income of all funds as a result of this policy.

TOWN HALL ( GUILD HALL )

The centre of any Burgh was the market, where goods were sold and transactions made.   This central spot was marked by a market cross.   In Berwick early evidence suggests that there were at least two separate market crosses close to the present location of the Town Hall.   The Tron or weighbeam was erected at the same location.   In time a structure was added which became known as the Berefret.   The Berefret was one of the places where the laws of Berwick were drawn up between 1248 and 1294.   A prison was purchased during the reign of Alexander 11 and in 1250 a Burgess, Simon Maunsel, bequeathed the sight of the present Town Hall to the Guild.   It can be assumed that there was a Tollbooth or Town Hall on this sight from that time.   By the fourteenth century it was in use as a Court, prison, and Met or office for weights and measures.   There had been at least four buildings on the present site before the present building was erected between 1750 and 1754.

A bell was used to summon the Burgesses to Guild Meetings from the very early times, certainly predating 1249.   A bell was also used to summon the alarm and housed in various Watch Towers.   In 1609 the Earl of Dunbar presented the Guild with a peal of bells to replace the watch bell and those were hung in the Tollbooth.   These bells were recast when the new Town hall was built.   Each bell has its own name and was rung individually on its own occasion.   A set of chimes was added in 1894 to allow hymns to be played without swinging the bells.   At this time two bells had to be recast.   By the 1990s both bells and their hangings were in urgent need of refurbishing.   Two bells will be recast and all the bells rehung to allow them to be pealed.   Berwick is one of only two Town halls in England to have a full peal of bells.

The Town gaol was on the second or upper floor with two large boarded rooms, one for debtors and one for criminals.   The stringent property laws introduced in the middle of the eighteenth century made many crimes involving theft a capital offence.   In practice many of these cases were remitted to imprisonment or transportation.   Those awaiting transportation were held in gaol until transport was available.   The new goal was incorporated in the Town Hall to cope with the increased number of prisoners.   However the conditions and security were poor and a purpose built jail was erected at Wallace Green in the middle of the nineteenth century.   This new jail is now part of the Borough Offices.

The Town Hall remained part of the Freemen’s Estate after the 1835 Reform Acts.   By the 1926 Act  the administration passed to the Berwick-upon-Tweed Corporation (Freemen) Trust.   The Town hall required to be stabilised in 1955-56.   Extensive repairs and refurbishing were carried out in the 1980s.

The Freemen and Borough have equal rights in the use of the building.   The ground floor contains the Butter market which is let out as a coffee shop and boutique.   The first floor contains the Guild Hall, anteroom, Council Room. Kitchen and Mayors Parlour.   The second floor, which is the old Town Goal, is a museum created by J.Weatherburn, a Freeman and Town hall Keeper, and James Allan, his successor as Town Hall Keeper.   One of the cells houses the records and property of the Freemen since 1835.   The records prior to 1835 are kept in the Borough archives.   The bells are rung from this floor.   There are various floors above this level which are not normally open to the general public, except under guidance.

PRESENT DAY GUILD
The present day Guild is very active.   The Freemen’s Committee organises a series of social events annually.   These normally include Riding the Bounds, a dinner, lectures and a bus trip which often visits other towns were there are Freemen.   Non-Resident Freemen are welcome at these events.   Freemen are represented at various local events such as Remembrance Day and Mayor’s Sunday.   The Committee is responsible for the various Freemen Charities, and donated from its General and Reserve Funds to many local items.   These include the gift of the Mace to the town and donations towards the upkeep old records. the Parish Church, CCTV, Christmas lights and various other improvements.

Berwick Freemen have had a close relationship with other guilds in North East England since the 1930s.   There was concern at the possible loss of traditional Freemen’s rights when local government reform was being discussed in the 1960s.   As a result, at a meeting in York in 1966, chaired by the Chairman of the Berwick Guild, an Association of Freemen Guilds, The Freemen of England , was formed.   This Association, later extended to cover Wales, held its AGM in Berwick in 1980 and 1994.   Berwick is also a Member of the Court of Deans of Scotland, which held its AGM in Berwick in 1994. 

